#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# NO. 2009-78-01

APR 0 6 2010

Dr. MELISSA WHITING

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

**APPELLANT** 

Ÿ.

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN MISSISSIPPI, DR. SHELBY THAMES officially and individually, DR. DANA THAMES officially and individually, and DR. CARL MARTRAY officially and individually, BOARD OF TRUSTEES FOR INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING

**APPELLEES** 

### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT DR. MELISSA WHITING

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

KIM T. CHAZE
Attorney for the Appellant
MSB #
7 Surrey Lane
Durham, NH 03824
603-292-6385

#### NO. 2009-TS-01807

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

#### ISSUE I.

THE MISSISSIPPI TORT CLAIMS ACT [MTCA] DOES NOT CONSTRAIN OR CONTROL EXPRESS WRITTEN CONTRACTS IN MISSISSIPPI:

#### ISSUE II:

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IS ALSO NOT CONSTRAINED BY THE MTCA:

#### ISSUE III:

SINCE DR. WHITING'S WRITTEN CONTRACT AND FACULTY HANDBOOK
LITERALLY "GUARANTEED" HER DUE PROCESS, SHE WAS, <u>A FORTIORI</u>,
CONTRACTUALLY ENTITLED TO DUE PROCESS:

#### **ISSUE IV**:

DR. WHITING IS <u>CONTRACTUALLY ENTITLED</u> TO "PROCEDURAL AND CONTRACTUAL DUE PROCESS". THIS INCLUDES <u>BOTH</u> PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS:

#### **ISSUE V:**

THE CONTRACTUALLY REQUIRED "GOOD FAITH" HAS NOT BEEN PROVIDED BY DEFENDANTS:

#### **ISSUE VI:**

THE EMPHASIS IN THIS CASE IS NOT UPON A GUARANTEE OF FUTURE EMPLOYMENT BUT UPON THE GUARANTEE OF DUE PROCESS AND A GUARANTEE OF THE PROCEDURES CONTAINED IN THE FACULTY HANDBOOK AND CONTRACT:

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Dr. Whiting was a professor in the Department of Curriculum, Instruction, and Special Education at the University of Southern Mississippi [USM]. She had written contracts that provided her distinct contractual rights. These contracts were supplemented by an extensive Faculty Handbook that "guaranteed" her numerous other entitlements and benefits.

Amongst those entitlements was "CONTRACTUAL DUE PROCESS". Her Faculty Handbook "guaranteed" her Due Process. [RE 4] [CP 449, 564] [FACULTY HANDBOOK; Exhibit 1 [XI-1].1

Dr. Whiting respectfully appears in this Court predominantly regarding her written contractual rights. Since she was contractually guaranteed due process, she should have been provided that contractual obligation, right, and entitlement. She was not.

As a proximate result she was deprived of the procedures and due process she was guaranteed. She was deprived of numerous entitlements emanating from her written contract and Faculty Handbook.

Dr. Whiting respectfully disagrees with the Circuit Judge's ruling. Furthermore, a written contract is never constrained by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act [MCTA]. The lower court, it appears, believed a written contract is controlled by the MTCA. Again Dr. Whiting respectfully disagrees.

Dr. Whiting's position is substantiated by considerable discovery, documents, and testimony [approximately 2000 pages contained in the Record]. Dr. Whiting spent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Handbook will be referred extensively. The entire Handbook was offered in opposition to the Motion For Summary Judgment. Please note page references of Handbook. For example, here, the page number is "XI-1". "Exhibit" refers to particular exhibits offered in opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

her entire professional life teaching students how to become effective teachers themselves. Once her own educational endeavors are combined with her work as a teacher or professor, she has thirty years at stake and invested in this litigation.

The Circuit Judge entered a summary judgment in this matter on September 17, 2008. Ultimately, he denied her motion for reconsideration on October 6, 2009. Dr. Whiting filed a timely Notice of Appeal on November 3, 2009. Now, she appears in this Court respectfully seeking relief.

The Defendants at their depositions acknowledged that Dr. Whiting was actually guaranteed employment for a period of at least six years and as long as seven years so that the guidelines in the Handbook, regarding tenure and promotion, could be satisfied. Dr. Dana Thames, Dr. Whiting's Chair [and daughter of the President at that time, Dr. Shelby Thames] testified that she [Dana] had written a memorandum stating that Dr. Whiting "has until the end of her seventh year to acquire tenure . . .". [CP 606], <u>Exhibit 2</u> (DT [Dana Thames] depo, p. 151). The other defendants, at their respective depositions, also agreed with this point. [CP 661] For example, please see <u>Exhibit 3</u> (ST [Shelby Thames] depo pp. 125-126) [CP 661].

However, Dana's father, Shelby, buried Dr. Whiting's file, dossier, and career at USM, and he did nothing regarding the matter for three and a half months AFTER the Provost, the Chief Academic Officer at USM, <u>had recommended Dr. Whiting</u> for both tenure and promotion. This action did not comply with the guidelines in the Handbook. In point of fact, he allowed her dossier and tenure and promotion package to languish until he had been sued by her. By then, he was clearly prejudiced and biased against her.

Shelby Thames never provided Dr. Whiting a hearing – the very Due Process Hearing and Notice of Hearing she was entitled. If the Defendants contend otherwise, this is certainly a genuinely contested factual issue of material fact. Summary Judgment should never have been granted for this reason alone.

According to the Handbook, it is "normal" for the "AFFECTED PARTY" [DR. WHITING] to be informed by May 1 as to a decision by the President. [CP 449, 589] [Exhibit 1,] It is not disputed that she was not informed until some time in September. The letter written her, firing her, is not dated until August 30. By the time she received the letter, she had already been replaced many weeks prior. Her classes had been taken over by another. She had not received the *guaranteed contractual due process* she was entitled. She never received a hearing by the decision maker, Dr. Shelby Thames or by the Board.

According to the Handbook, she "MUST" have been informed by September 1, 2001 of any non-renewal. [CP 449, 561] [Exhibit 1] In other words, the Defendants were over a year late in informing her. This breach had the effect of providing her the right to a terminal contract that was timely and, therefore, she should have been employed for at least two more years.

The reason for "terminal contracts" is not contested. In the Academic World, Professors, particularly Tenure Track Professors, such as Dr. Whiting, need and are entitled to considerable notice of their not being employed at USM so that they can look for other employment elsewhere in the Academic World. Positions are difficult to come by. There are only a few jobs available, and the job search entails considerable effort. Time is essential.

Not only was Dr. Whiting deprived of due process and the requisite notice and hearings due process entails, she also never received the terminal contract she was entitled pursuant to the Faculty Handbook. Furthermore, she never received the benefit and entitlement of the critical deadlines contained in the Faculty Handbook.

Again, if any of the foregoing factual points are contested, summary judgment should not have been granted. Although the Defendants' position is chameleonesque, they contest Dr. Whiting's presentation of the material facts. Thus, of course, summary judgment is not appropriate.

It is a certainty, however, that a "terminal contract" was never contained in Defendants' exhibits, and it is just as certain, Dr. Whiting was never presented a terminal contract. The Defendants, instead, argued to the Circuit Judge that they "contemplated" a terminal contract. That mystical "contemplation", as we all know, is not evidence. Please recall that her contract and Handbook stated that she "MUST" be provided the terminal contract. However, she was not provided the critical terminal contract.

Shelby Thames testified, words to the effect, he may have only actually looked at Dr. Whiting's file until <u>AFTER SUIT HAD BEEN FILED</u> against him regarding his misconduct. Suit had been filed on August 6. [CP 661] <u>Exhibit 3</u>, (ST depo,p. 17) - almost four months past the critical deadline of May 1. Shelby Thames acknowledged the importance of the date of May 1. He knew that the date was critical. [CP 661] <u>Exhibit 3</u>, (ST depo, p. 146).

Dr. Shelby Thames finally wrote Dr. Whiting on August 23, 2002. Then, he fired her some time in September upon her receiving his letter firing her that was not even dated until August 30, 2002. He provided and knew of no reason for her being fired.

Indeed, he testified he had not taken one note regarding her file. [CP 661] **Exhibit 3**, **(ST depo, p.16, p. 29)**. He did not know, according his testimony, of any reason for her firing.

Dr. Shelby Thames did not dispute the accuracy of Dr. Whiting's Annual Evaluations that were virtually perfect. [CP 661] <u>Exhibit 3</u>, (ST depo, p. 29;63). He agreed the Annual Evaluations are the "guidance" for Dr. Whiting. [CP 661] <u>Exhibit 3</u>, (ST depo, p. 37). He acknowledged the numerous awards Dr. Whiting had received. [CP 661] <u>Exhibit 3</u>, (ST depo, p. 104).

Shelby Thames agreed that the Handbooks should be relied upon by Dr. Whiting. [CP 661] Exhibit 3, (ST depo, p. 141). The Annual Evaluations emanate from this Handbook and are required by it. In effect, the Annual Evaluations are part and parcel of Dr. Whiting's written contract.

It is evident that this accomplished, virtually perfect professor, who had been recommended for tenure and promotion throughout USM, never received a hearing or due process by Dr. Shelby Thames who fired her and replaced her without adhering to the foregoing contractual entitlements. Her contract was breached. She is deserving of a due process trial in the Circuit Court of Forrest County so that a Jury of her peers can determine if she is entitled to relief or not.

Please note that there was no Board action until November — well after the school year had begun. According to Dr. Thames, the Board did nothing until November 2002. [CP 661] **Exhibit 3**, **(ST depo, p.145)**. Even then, the Board did not provide Due Process. The Board did not review the matter or provide a hearing to Dr. Whiting.

The school year began in early August. Dr. Whiting with left with no contract and no position and no due process. All of this occurred even though her contract entitled her to all of the foregoing.

Dr. Whiting was terminated without the "guaranteed Contractual Due Process" she was entitled. This occurred in spite of the fact that both the Provost, the Chief Academic Officer at USM, and the University Advisory Committee, recommended that Dr. Whiting be tenured and promoted. They concluded she had satisfied the criteria for being tenured and promoted.

Dr. Shelby Thames ignored the Provost. He ignored the University Advisory Committee.

The most salient language in the contract and Handbook that permeates this entire case is the following language found in the Handbook at [RE 4][CP 449; CP 564] **Exhibit 1**, Here, in large, bold black language Dr. Whiting, and other professors, were "guaranteed" "PROCEDURE AND CONTRACTUAL DUE PROCESS". Then, upon discussing these procedures, it is clearly stated, "These procedures collectively constitute contractual due process—the sum total of the procedural guarantees, explicit and implicit, afforded by a contracting employer [USM] to a contracting employee [Dr. Whiting] for the regulation and enforcement of the substantive terms of employment." [RE 4] [CP 564].

Dr. Whiting never received the foregoing. She never received what her contract guaranteed her.

From both a factual and legal perspective, the Handbook supplemented Dr. Whiting's written contracts with Defendants. She was entitled, according to the Defendants, [CP 661] Exhibit 3, (ST depo p. 141) to rely upon the Handbook, and she

did in fact rely upon them. In spite of the fact she kept her end of the bargain, the Defendants did not keep theirs.

The Defendants repeatedly wrote her telling her she had satisfied the criteria for tenure and promotion. Indeed, the Defendants, in particular, Dr. Dana Thames, the Chair of Dr. Whiting's Department, stated in Dr. Whiting's Annual Evaluations that Dr. Whiting, "Far exceeded expectations". [CP 714] (Annual Evaluations, Exhibit 5).

Also, the previous Chairman wrote Dr. Whiting telling her she had satisfied the criteria. [CP 714] (Annual Evaluations at Exhibit 5) The Defendants repeatedly acknowledged that the annual evaluations are the document used, pursuant to the Handbook, to inform a professor as to whether she is satisfying the criteria. [CP 727] Exhibit 6 (CM [Carl Martray] depo, p. 93); [CP 661] Exhibit 3 (ST depo, p. 37). The annual evaluations stated that Dr. Whiting was not only meeting the criteria but that she "far exceeded expectations" in regard to all three areas of Teaching, Research, and Service. [CP 720-726]. Again, it is not disputed that the Annual Evaluations also emanate and are required by the Faculty Handbook.

Dr. Whiting was also provided, pursuant to the Handbook, an "absolute" endorsement of her credentials in her "Third Year Review" of her credentials. The effect of this review, according to the Handbook, was to assure her of "an absolute . . . departmental vote of confidence." [CP449, 579] (Exhibit 1) [CP 761] (Exhibit 7).

Upon perusing her last Annual Evaluation, dated March 27, 2001, **Dr. Whiting** literally received the highest rating possible in all three categories because her work was superb and "far exceeded expectations" regarding the issues of tenure and promotion. [CP 714] (Exhibit 5).

The "mandated faculty evaluation" is, without question according to the Handbook, the key ingredient to honestly evaluating a professor at USM. [CP 449;565] (Exhibit 1, p. XI-2 to XI-3). Indeed, according to the Handbook, "Academic staff members are thus protected against arbitrary and capricious personnel actions, objective standards of evaluation constituting an essential component of contractual due process."

In spite of the critical importance of: the Handbook, the Handbook's required Annual Evaluations, and the Handbook's required honest and truthful Third Year Review, all of these entitlements, written promises, and written rights were discarded by Dr. Shelby Thames. He simply, arbitrarily, and capriciously discarded them, ignored them, and violated the contractual rights of Dr. Whiting.

It is also pertinent that Defendants Martray [Dean] and Dana Thames either agreed that Dr. Whiting was literally perfect in her performance or concurred upon reviewing them. Neither denied the accuracy of these Annual Evaluations at their respective depositions. Indeed, they acknowledged the accuracy of them. [CP 606] **Exhibit 2** (DT depo pp. 26-28). Yet, they allowed, ratified, and encouraged the mistreatment and contractual breaches.

The Provost, the Chief Academic Officer at USM, and the Supervisor of Dean Martray, wrote both Shelby Thames and Dr. Whiting that Dr. Whiting had satisfied the criteria for tenure and promotion. [CP 764] (Exhibit 8).

ı

Additionally, as can be seen from **Exhibit 8**, Dr. Donald Cotton, the Vice President for Research and Graduate Dean, also agreed that Dr. Whiting satisfied the criteria regarding tenure.

The University Advisory Council, a large group of tenured and promoted Professors held a hearing regarding the credentials of Dr. Whiting and concluded that she should be tenured because she satisfied the criteria. [CP 765] (Exhibit 9).

Especially since Dr. Shelby Thames provided no reason at his deposition or at the time he fired Dr. Whiting for firing her, the decisions of the Provost, the decisions of Dr. Thames' own advisory committee, the Third Year Review result, and the Annual Evaluations all establish that Dr. Whiting was not provided due process and was treated arbitrarily and capriciously.

So, why? Why did this happen? Although Dr. Whiting is not required to prove motive, it happened because Dana Thames had done all she could, along with her friend Dr. Reeves, to sabotage Dr. Whiting's tenureship and promotion. Dana and her friend intentionally contaminated and besmirched the reputation of Dr. Whiting. What occurred, at the hands of Defendants, occurred because the Defendants wanted to harm Dr. Whiting because she had opposed them and criticized them.

Dana Thames and Reeves undisputedly collaborated on several academic projects for many years and were close friends. [CP 606] <u>Exhibit 2</u> (DT depo 217, 223) (DT38-39). Please bear in mind that Dr. Dana Thames is also "very close", of course, to her father. [CP 606] <u>Exhibit 2</u> (DT depo p.42). Yet, Dr. Reeves and Dr. Whiting do not speak. [CP 768] <u>Exhibit 12</u> (MW [Melissa Whiting] depo, p. 156).

Dr. Dana Thames and Dr. Whiting, to say the least, are not friendly. Dana Thames and Reeves also personally attacked Dr. Whiting at the College Advisory Council and at the University Advisory Council. None of these factual points are disputed.

At one point Dana told Dr. Whiting NOT to place certain important research materials in her dossier. [CP 768] Exhibit 12, (MW depo, p. 66). This, of course,

harmed Dr. Whiting because her file did not contain even more of her accomplishments. Dr. Whiting obeyed Dana because Dana Thames was her direct supervisor. As Dr. Whiting testified regarding this conduct, "I don't think she wanted me to succeed." [CP 768] Exhibit 12, (MW depo, p.67). It was a matter of "professional jealousy". [CP 768] [Exhibit 12, (MW depo p. 67] Basically, Dr. Dana Thames and Dean Martray tried to convince Dr. Whiting to "withdraw" her dossier. [CP 768] Exhibit 12, (MW depo, p.72, p. 74).

The Department had formed allegiances. Dr. Reeves and Dr. Dana Thames were in one camp, and Dr. Whiting was in another. Dr. Whiting testified, "I was not in their group." [CP 768] <u>Exhibit 12</u>, (MW depo, p.158). There were differences of opinion pertaining to a number of issues between the "group" of Reeves and Thames versus the group, if you will, Dr. Whiting was in. [CP 768] <u>Exhibit 12</u>, (MW, depo, p.148). For example, Dr. Thames was not pleased with decisions Dr. Whiting had made regarding the "Radar Committee" which dealt with issues regarding the rights of students to appeal decisions. [CP 768] <u>Exhibit 12</u>, (MW depo, pp.148-149).

Dana's treatment of Dr. Whiting was so inappropriate that it included Dr. Whiting being, literally, segregated from the other faculty members and placed in a separate building across campus. [CP 768] <u>Exhibit 12</u>, (MW depo, p.150-151) in an attempt to "isolate" Dr. Whiting. [CP 768], (<u>Exhibit 12</u>, p.150).

On one occasion, Dr. Whiting showed Dean Martray the materials Dr. Dana Thames had instructed her NOT to place in her dossier. The Dean asked why they were not in there, and Dr. Whiting told him the truth: Dana Thames had directed her not to include them. Dr. Martray lowered his head, and said, "This is great stuff." [CP 768] **Exhibit 12**, (MW depo, p.176). Martray told and admitted to Dr. Whiting, "This is great

stuff Melissa. Why didn't you include this?" Dr. Whiting told him, "I was told specifically by Dr. [Dana]Thames not to." [CP 768] **Exhibit 12**, **(p. 176)**. Martray shook his head while lowering it. Yet, he did nothing. He told nobody. He proceeded to ratify the conduct of Thames and allowed her free rein to harm Dr. Whiting all the while knowing Dr. Whiting was being mistreated.

As stated previously, Dr. Whiting is not required to prove motive for the contractual breaches here. However, the foregoing establishes why these breaches occurred as well as the malevolence that accompanied the breaches of the contract.

#### BACKGROUND:

Originally, this case was filed in Forrest County Circuit Court and then removed to federal court. Ultimately, in federal court the constitutional claims were denied, but the state claims were not. They were remanded back to state court.

Indeed, the federal district judge found that **the issue regarding Dr. Whiting's** contractual contentions should be resolved by a jury. [CP898] (T34).

The federal district judge held there "seems to be some . . . different interpretations of the facts that might lend itself to a weighing of the evidence and something for a jury to decide." [CP 908] (T44).

The federal district judge said, "It's interesting that you argued no agreement, but it seems as if the employment contract that she did have was supplemented by the handbook, the faculty handbook. And it appears as if the Board's bylaws in the handbook impose some obligations on the university that extend beyond the nine month period of the employment contract." [then he proceeds to provide some of the examples]. [CP 904]

At another point the federal district judge admonished counsel for the Defendants, "Your argument on this and whether or not she's abandoned her job or what have you, it seems –I mean, it perhaps maybe <u>creates an issue of fact for a jury to decide</u> on the issue of breach of contract claims." [CP 898;T34]

In fact <u>counsel opposite agreed with the district judge</u> that the Handbook "creates certain obligations between the university and the faculty." [CP 906]

The district judge also found, [speaking to this counsel] "You may be right on the contract issue." "Some different interpretations of the facts that might lend itself to a weighing of the evidence and something for a jury to decide." [CP 908]] (T44).

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