IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01807

MELISSA WHITING

APPELLANT

V.

THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN MISSISSIPPI, THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES FOR INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING, DR. SHELBY THAMES officially and individually, DR. DANA THAMES officially and individually, and DR. CARL MARTRAY officially and individually

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

John S. Hooks
Mississippi State Bar N
ADAMS AND REESE LLP
111 East Capitol Street, Suite 350
Post Office Box 24297
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-4297
Telephone: 601-353-3234

Telephone: 601-353-3234 Facsimile: 601-355-9708

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

Argument

I. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying Whiting's motion to reconsider and appropriately granted summary judgment.

Dr. Whiting's appeals from the trial court's denial of a motion asking the trial court to change its grant of summary judgment in favor of the Defendants "under MRCP Rules 59 and 60. R. 1060. Because Dr. Whiting seeks to alter or amend the decision granting summary judgment for the Defendants, the motion must be analyzed under the Rule 59(e) legal framework. *Bruce v. Bruce*, 587 So.2d 898, 903 (Miss. 1991) (citation omitted). ⁵ This Court reviews a trial court's denial of a Rule 59 motion to reconsider a summary judgment motion under an abuse of discretion standard. *Id.* (*citing Bang v. Pittman*, 749 So.2d 47, 52-53 (Miss. 1999)).

In analyzing the motion, the trial court applied the correct legal standard. A party will not succeed under Rule 59(e), unless it shows: (i) an intervening change in controlling law, (ii) availability of new evidence that was not previously available, or (iii) the need to correct a clear error of law or prevent manifest injustice. See, e.g., Bang v. Pittman, 749 So.2d 47, 52-53 (Miss. 1999); Boyles v. Schlumberger Tech. Corp., 792 So.2d 262, 265 (Miss. 2001). The party seeking relief has the burden of proof, and a court acts within its considerable discretion in denying a Rule 59(e) motion where the moving party fails. See Brooks v. Roberts, 882 So.2d 229 ¶16 (Miss. 2004). In fact, "[t]he standards of Rule 59(e)

See Miss. R. Civ. P. 59(e) ("A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be filed not later than ten days after entry of the judgment."). Rule 59 (a) – (d) apply only where a party seeks a new trial. Rule 60(a) applies only if amendment is sought due to a clerical error. Rule 60(b) does not apply—as a matter of law—where a party seeks to alter or amend a judgment. See Miles v. Miles, 949 So.2d 774, 783 n.2 (Miss. App. 2006) ("Rule 60 cannot be the basis for a motion to alter or amend a judgment. A motion to alter or amend a judgment must be filed pursuant to M.R.C.P. 59(e).").

favor denial of a motion to alter or amend a final judgment." Rourke v. Thompson, 11 F.3d 47, 51 (5th Cir. 1993).

Courts have repeatedly emphasized Rule 59(e) cannot be used by "unhappy" litigants trying to sway the trial court into making a different ruling. *See, e.g., Joe v. Minnesota Life Ins. Co.*, 272 F.Supp.2d 603, 604 n.1 (S.D. Miss. 2003) (interpreting the identical federal rule and explaining that "[w]hatever may be the purpose of Rule 59(e), it should not be supposed that it is intended to give an unhappy litigant one additional chance to sway the judge."). 6

In her motion to reconsider, Dr. Whiting did not make any arguments under Rule 59(e) standards. In denying the motion, the trial court did not abuse its discretion, because the motion for reconsideration simply reasserted the same arguments in Dr. Whiting's response to the summary judgment motion. According to the trial court, "the plaintiff's failure to offer anything other than what has been offered before places this matter beyond the reach of rule 59's allowance for reconsideration: 'A motion for reconsideration may not be used to rehash rejected arguments or introduce new arguments." R. 1059, Order Denying Motion to Reconsider. Because she had not met the requirements of Rule 59(e), the trial court's denial was proper.

Nevertheless, even if Whiting properly appealed to this Court the issue of whether summary judgment were appropriately granted, as set out below, the trial court properly concluded that no genuine issue of fact precluded summary judgment.

[&]quot;The Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure are patterned after the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and we have looked to the federal interpretations of our state counterparts as persuasive authority." *Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Halliburton Co.*, 826 So.2d 1206, 1215 (¶ 32) (Miss. 2001)).

A. All policies and procedures were followed.

1. Dr. Whiting was not denied any contract of employment to which she was entitled.

As stated in section I.A, above, there is no dispute that Dr. Whiting was employed by the Board under six distinct contracts for six academic years: 1996-97, 1997-98, 1998-99, 1999-2000, 2000-01, and 2001-02. The term of the last contract began on August 16, 2001, and ended on May 16, 2002, when it expired automatically. Dr. Whiting cannot maintain that she was entitled to—but did not receive—a contract for a sixth year. This is because Dr. Whiting *did* receive and execute contracts for six academic years. Her claim that she was ddenied a sixth-year contract, is therefore, without merit: She had contracts for six academic years.

2. A terminal contract for the 2002-03 academic year was available to Dr. Whiting.

Although Dr. Whiting contends the Defendants breached a contract of employment with her by not providing her a "terminal contract," the President's letter dated August 30, 2002, to Dr. Whiting told her of his decision not to award tenure or promotion and proves she would have received a contract had she returned for the 2002-03 academic year: "This letter constitutes notice of non-renewal of your employment at USM. A contract of employment will not be offered to you after this academic year ending in May 2003." R. 285, Ex. 27. In other words, had she returned, the University anticipated extending a contract of employment to Dr. Whiting for the 2002-03 academic year, her seventh academic year at the University.

In her response to the Defendants' summary judgment, Dr. Whiting claimed she did not have contracts for six years, relying on the fact that only five—rather than six—contracts were contained in Exhibit No. 3 to the Defendants' motion. Although the 1997-98 contract was not included, there is no dispute as the whether Dr. Whiting was given this contract or that she actually worked as a professor at the University during the 1997-98 academic year.

She chose not to return to the University. The final "Personnel Action Form" of the University lists the reason why Dr. Whiting's employment ended as "failure to report to work." R. 347, Ex. 35.

3. Dr. Whiting had no legitimate expectation of employment beyond the 2002-03 academic year.

Dr. Whiting did not have a contractual right for a contract beyond the 2002-03 academic year. Although her allegations are vague, Dr. Whiting appears to contend the Faculty Handbook guaranteed that she would be employed for at least one year of employment beyond the 2002-03 academic year. Appellant's Brief, p. 27. Stated differently, Dr. Whiting claims a "pre-tenure" tenure right (i.e., a right to employment for a definite period to become a tenured employee). Dr. Whiting argues that the minimum time frame for attaining tenure as stated in the Faculty Handbook (ordinarily six years) amounted to a guarantee of employment for up to eight years within which to achieve tenure. This is not so.

Although the Faculty Handbook does permit a candidate to request deferral of the tenure application to the seventh year of contracted employment, Dr. Whiting made no such request. R. 193-94, Ex. 9, Faculty Handbook, at ¶ 4.7. She applied for tenure in August 2001, at the beginning of her sixth year at the University. R. 49, Ex. 4. Despite concerns expressed by the department's tenure and promotion committee and the "general agreement that Dr. Whiting should not request tenure until completion of her sixth year," (R. 241, Ex. 11), Dr. Whiting "requested that her materials be moved forward and reviewed for both Tenure and promotion to Associate Professor Rank." R. 244-47, Ex. 14 (bold and underline in original). Dr. Whiting's department chair likewise indicated to Dr. Whiting that

The Faculty Handbook states that tenure deliberation proceedings are "normally in the sixth year of full-time employment." R. 193, Ex. 9 at p. XI-17, § 13.4.

"it would be in Dr. Whiting's best interest for her to withdraw her papers from tenure and promotion consideration at this time, because she has until the end of her seventh year to acquire tenure, and promotion may be requested at the beginning of any academic year. I make this recommendation because I believe that she has the potential to overcome the concerns of departmental peers. . ." R. 244, Ex. 14 at p. 1. Notwithstanding the report of the Department committee and the recommendation of the Department chair, Dr. Whiting indicated her desire to move her tenure and promotion application to the College Advisory Committee. R. 248-49, Ex. 15.

The Faculty Handbook is clear: Absent a request for deferral, if tenure is not granted during the sixth year of full-time employment, tenure-track faculty members normally are given terminal contracts for their seventh year of full-time employment. R. 193 at 4.5, final paragraph, Ex. 9. Had Dr. Whiting returned to campus, she would have received the contract for her seventh year, but she was not entitled to more. The President's letter indicating that a subsequent contract following the 2002-03 academic year (her seventh year of employment) would not be offered to Whiting is totally consistent with all Handbook provisions.

Mississippi's appellate courts have twice ruled that non-tenured professors are not entitled to unlimited probationary periods within which to attain tenure. In *Suddith v. The University of Southern Mississippi*, 977 So. 2d 1158 (Miss. App. 2007) (en banc), *cert. denied*, 977 So. 2d 1144 (Miss. 2008), a professor argued he was entitled to a minimum of six years of employment within which to attain tenure. The Mississippi Court of Appeals disagreed:

There is no indication in any portion of the Faculty Handbook contained in the appellate record that non-tenured faculty are entitled to protection against involuntary termination or to continuing employment for any period beyond the term of their current contracts. There are two references in the record to a "Third Year Review" and an excerpt from the deposition of Dr. Huffman concerning the tenure-track schedule being six years. There is nothing,

however, in these brief references to raise a genuine issue of a tenure-track employee's entitlement to continued employment for the amount of time necessary to reach these stages of the tenure process.

Id. at 1172. Similarly, in Servedio v. The University of Southern Mississippi, Case No. 3-95-4473 (Cir. Ct. Forrest County, Miss., May 20, 2005), another professor denied tenure argued he had every expectation his contract would be renewed as long as he continued to do a good job. See R. 360, Ex. 37 at pp. 1-2. This Court stated that "the Plaintiff, who was a nontenured professor, misunderstands the nature of his employment relationship with the University." Id. at p. 2. The Court observed, "No contract was terminated. When the final contract expired, the Plaintiff's employment with the University ended. . . . Non-renewal is not a breach of contract." Id. at 29. In a per curiam judgment without an opinion, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed this Court and taxed the appellant with the costs of appeal. See Ex. 38. Under clear Mississippi law, therefore, Dr. Whiting had no contractual right to multiple years of employment within which to attain tenure following the 2002-03.

4. There is no absolute right to receive a tenure decision on May 1.

Based on the Faculty Handbook, Dr. Whiting claims she had an unequivocal contract right to a decision on the tenure and promotion application from Dr. Shelby Thames no later than May 1, 2002, and this right was violated because she received notice on a later date.

Appellate Brief, p. 4. In reality, the Handbook does not create the unequivocal notice described by Dr. Whiting. The Handbook actually says: "Normally candidates may expect to receive written notification of the final decision from the president or his/her designated representative by May 1 unless an appeal is invoked." (R. 589, Faculty Handbook at V-11,

§ 2.e.) (emphasis added)). President Thames did not assume office until May 1, 2002. R. 346, Ex. 34. Furthermore, the provost's review was not completed until May 17, 2002. R. 281, Ex. 25.

5. Dr. Whiting chose not to meet with President Thames and had no right to a hearing before the Board.

Dr. Whiting claims to have been contractually entitled to a hearing before the President before he made a decision regarding her tenure and promotion dossier. See, e.g., id. at p. 5. Regardless of whether Dr. Whiting was entitled to a hearing, the fact is that Dr. Shelby Thames extended an invitation for her to meet with him, and she passed up the opportunity. Whiting, 451 F.3d at 343. Dr. Whiting's counsel claims he responded to Dr. Thames's invitation for a meeting by letter dated August 27, 2002, "agreeing to meet." Ex. 36 at p. 19. Dr. Whiting's counsel, however, also wrote a letter dated August 29, 2002, to the University legal counsel, stating, "I am unsure as to what you mean by having a meeting about this matter in the sense that I do not understand what the meeting would accomplish. Her file is replete with information." R. 392, Ex. 39. Dr. Whiting chose not to accept Dr. Thames's offer of a meeting.

Dr. Whiting also maintains she was "entitled to a hearing before the Board of Trustees." R. 348, Ex. 36 at p. 29. According to the official policy of the Board, appeal to the Board from a decision of the President regarding tenure and promotion is not a matter of right; the Board has absolute discretion regarding whether it will entertain an appeal. See R. 341, Ex. 33 ("Review by the Board is not a matter of right, but is within the sound discretion of the Board."). Dr. Whiting, moreover, filed suit before requesting an appeal to the Board. Because Dr. Whiting had already filed suit before President Thames made his decision, the Board chose not to grant Dr. Whiting a hearing. Id. Thus, there are no genuinely disputed

material facts about whether the Defendants deprived Dr. Whiting of review rights guaranteed in the Handbook; they did not.

6. Dr. Whiting could have supplemented her dossier with additional materials.

Finally, Dr. Whiting contends that Dr. Thames advised her not to place certain research materials in her dossier. Even assuming these materials would have been considered in the tenure and promotion process, Dr. Whiting could have submitted them at any level of the review. The Faculty Handbook provides that individuals may supplement their dossier. See R. 211 at p. XI-14, § 12.1; R. 214 at p. XI-17, § 13.4. Dr. Whiting often supplemented her dossier by giving materials to the Department, CAC, UAC, and provost, as explained above in section I.A. Dr. Whiting was offered an opportunity to appear before two meetings of the UAC but declined on the advice of her attorney. See 272, Ex. 21 at pp. 2, 51. Nor did she meet with President Thames as discussed above. Dr. Whiting had ample opportunity to present these additional materials and chose not to.

7. The findings of federal courts confirm no procedural defects.

While examining this case to determine whether the Defendants had violated any due process rights to which Dr. Whiting might have been entitled under the policies and procedures of the University, the Fifth Circuit found that "reviewing the history of her tenure application suggests that she has been afforded the processes guaranteed her." *Whiting*, 451 F.3d at 346. Although the Fifth Circuit analyzed Dr. Whiting's claims in the context of her federal due process claims, its findings show there are no violations amounting to a breach of contract either.

The first alleged procedural deficit the Fifth Circuit addressed was Dr. Whiting's allegation that although she was entitled to a decision by President Thames by May 1, 2002,

22

the end of the academic year in which she applied for tenure, President Thames did not reach a decision until late August, 2002. *Id.* The Fifth Circuit made short work of this argument by drawing attention to the Faculty Handbook's language that "Presidential decisions are *normally* communicated to affected parties by May 1." *Id.* (quoting Faculty Handbook, R. 223, Ex. 9 at p. XI-26, § 22) (emphasis added). The court noted that this wording indicated "there may be times at which circumstances mandate a different date may apply: in this case, President Thames did not assume office until May 1, 2002; furthermore, the provost's review was not itself completed until May 17, 2002." *Id.* Just as the Fifth Circuit decided, there is no genuinely disputed fact on this issue.

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